0///

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

RUSSELL T. SICKMEN,

Respondent.

Case No. 70,047

TFB File No. 8721623(NRE)(02) (formerly NRE87001)

## INITIAL BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel

JAMES N. WATSON, JR.
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 222-5286

COUNSEL FOR COMPLAINANT

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 12, 1987, Respondent filed a petition for reinstatement which was approved by the referee in his report dated July 16, 1987. The petition for reinstatement followed Respondent's three (3) year suspension from the practice of law in Florida for his conviction of the federal felony of conspiracy to commit mail fraud.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, at its meeting which terminated on September 5, 1987, voted to petition this Court for review of those portions of the referee's report relating to the recommendation of reinstatement and the attendant conditions for said reinstatement. This cause is predicated upon the aforementioned petition for review.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 15, 1983, an information was filed against
Respondent in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York charging conspiracy to commit mail fraud, a
felony in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
On that date, Respondent entered a plea of guilty to the
information. Respondent was convicted of the felony in the United
States District Court on November 14, 1983.

Based upon the felony conviction, the Florida Bar filed a formal complaint against Respondent in the Supreme Court of Florida on April 30, 1985. The complaint charged that Respondent violated Rules 1-102(A)(4) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) and 1-102(A)(6) (a lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law) of the Code of Professional Responsibility of The Florida Bar.

A formal hearing on this matter was held on December 12, 1985, before a duly appointed referee. Based on evidence presented at the hearing, Respondent was found guilty of the charged disciplinary violations. The referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law in Florida for a period of three (3) years, nunc pro tunc, December 1983, and thereafter

until proof of his rehabilitation was provided as set forth in article XI, Rule 11.10(4) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. The referee also recommended that Respondent be required to pass the ethics portion of The Florida Bar Examination prior to his reinstatement. In <a href="https://doi.org/10.2012/j.mc/">The Florida Bar v. Sickmen</a>, 491 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1986), the Supreme Court of Florida adopted the referee's recommendations.

On April 20, 1987, after Respondent's petition for reinstatement was filed but before it was acted on by the referee, the appellate division of the Supreme Court of New York, Second Judicial Department, disbarred Respondent from the practice of law in the State of New York.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At issue here is the propriety of reinstating to the practice of law in Florida a suspended attorney who has been disbarred by another state for the same misconduct. Granting Respondent's petition for reinstatement would, under the circumstances of this case, flaunt the requirements imposed by this Court on attorneys seeking to return to active membership in The Florida Bar. Additionally, reinstatement would adversely affect the interests of both The Florida Bar and the citizens of this state.

To be eligible for reinstatement, a petitioning attorney has the burden of demonstrating good moral character and professional competence. Respondent's disbarment by New York's highest court, coupled with conflicting testimony as to his professional ability, preclude a finding that either of these requirements has been met.

A primary consideration in attorney disciplinary proceedings is the welfare of the public and of the legal community. Neither of these interests would be well-served by allowing Respondent to practice law in Florida when he is forbidden to do so in another state. To the contrary, reinstatement here would irreparably harm the image of those members of The Florida Bar who adhere to the high standards of fidelity and trust expected of all attorneys.

# ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

RESPONDENT HAS NOT MET THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED ON ATTORNEYS SEEKING TO RETURN TO ACTIVE MEMBERSHIP IN THE FLORIDA BAR.

This Court has imposed a rigorous set of criteria on attorneys seeking to return to active membership in The Florida Bar. The criteria include: (1) strict compliance with the previous disciplinary order; (2) good moral character; (3) demonstrable professional ability; (4) lack of malice toward those involved in bringing about the previous disciplinary proceedings; (5) a strong sense of repentance for the prior misconduct and a genuine intention of proper conduct in the future; and (6) compliance with any conditions imposed, such as restitution. The Florida Bar In re Timson, 301 So.2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1974); In re Dawson, 131 So.2d 472, 474 (Fla. 1961).

The Court has further stated that the six elements set forth in <a href="Timson">Timson</a>, supra</a>, in essence, require a petitioning attorney to demonstrate: (1) good moral character, personal integrity, and general fitness for a position of trust and confidence, and (2) professional competence and ability. The Florida Bar in re <a href="Inglis">Inglis</a>, 471 So.2d 38, 39 (Fla. 1985).

The petition for reinstatement considered by the Court in <a href="Inglis">Inglis</a> arose from an order of suspension entered against</a>
Inglis in 1964 for failure to disclose his interests in various real estate transactions and for felonious assault. Addressing the question of how a suspended attorney in reinstatement proceedings can make the requisite showing of professional ability, the Court said, "When the period of suspension is only a few months to a few years in duration, continued professional ability can be shown by competent testimony showing a reputation for professional ability." <a href="Id">Id</a> at 41. Though petitioner in <a href="Inglis">Inglis</a> had been ordered suspended for only eighteen months, he remained out of the practice of law for twenty years. This prolonged absence compelled the <a href="Inglis">Inglis</a> court additionally to require successful completion of the Florida Bar Examination before granting the petition for reinstatement.

In <u>Petition of Wolf</u>, 257 So.2d 547-48 (Fla. 1972), cited in <u>Timson</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court noted that "the Integration Rule at every turn places emphasis upon the <u>protection of the public</u> and the image and integrity of The Florida Bar as a whole."

(Emphasis in original). This pronouncement by the Court signifies its recognition of its responsibility to the public and the legal community.

The order of disbarment entered against Respondent by the Supreme Court of New York militates strongly against a finding that Respondent has met either of these requirements. The referee therefore erred in not giving due weight to Respondent's disbarment in New York when considering his petition for reinstatement.

In the instant case, Respondent was suspended from The Florida Bar for three years. According to <u>Inglis</u>, the professional ability required before a suspended attorney can be reinstated is evidenced by "reputation." Here, the disbarment order entered against Respondent in New York <u>ipso facto</u> precludes a finding that such a "reputation" exists. The order also negates any showing that Respondent is of "good moral character" and fit "for a position of trust and confidence," additional criteria for reinstatement under <u>Inglis</u>, <u>Timson</u>, and Dawson.

Before the referee who heard the evidence in support of Respondent's petition for reinstatement, the depositions of several people including former clients and attorneys who had worked with Respondent were entered to support the contention that Respondent had a good reputation for legal ability.

Of the witnesses called on Respondent's behalf, three were practicing attorneys. David Grey stated in his deposition that he

specialized in workmen's compensation matters and had represented several of Respondent's clients through referrals (Petitioner's Composite Exhibit #1, Deposition of David Grey at 4). Mr. Grey testified that he was in charge of the referral matters only and there was not an actual co-counsel relationship with Respondent. Mr. Grey went on to say that he is consulted by 500 to 750 other lawyers for his specialty (Petitioner's Composite Exhibit #1, Deposition of David Grey at 10). Other than through these referrals, Mr. Grey had no extensive involvement with Respondent in his legal work but believed that Respondent had an excellent reputation for legal ability.

Another witness, Harry Organek, also testified that

Respondent had a reputation as a highly competent attorney prior to

his suspension (Petitioner's Composite Exhibit #1, Deposition of

Harry Organek at 9). Mr. Organek participated in handling

several cases from Respondent in conjunction with another attorney,

Peter Kolbrener. It was through Mr. Kolbrener that Mr.

Organek met Respondent. Mr. Organek describes Mr. Kolbrener

as a "very well known and very respected practitioner" in their

area (Petitioner's Composite Exhibit #1, Deposition of Harry

Organek at 9).

Mr. Peter Kolbrener was a member of the law firm where Respondent clerked during law school and did referral trial work

for Respondent for about two-and-a-half years prior to Respondent being suspended. Respondent and Mr. Kolbrener even had a joint letterhead showing their association. After Respondent's suspension, Mr. Kolbrener received several hundred referral cases from Respondent to complete.

Mr. Kolbrener stated in his deposition that he felt that
Respondent was competent to handle the preliminary aspects of a
legal proceeding, but that he would not allow Respondent to carry a
case through to trial. (Petitioner's Composite Exhibit #1,
Deposition of Peter Kolbrener at 19).

These conflicting recommendations regarding Respondent's reputation for legal ability are insufficient for a finding of demonstrable professional ability so as to meet this criterion for reinstatement.

Under the current Rules of Discipline, Rule 3-5.1(e), a suspension of more than 90 days shall require proof of rehabilitation and may require passage of all or part of the Bar examination. Rule 3-7.9(k) also provides that where a suspension has continued for longer than 3 years, a judgment for reinstatement may be conditional upon proof of competency, including passage of the full Bar examination.

In this matter, Respondent has been suspended for more than three years and the testimony of his witnesses does not present an adequate showing of proof of his professional competence and ability.

In view of Respondent's lengthy absence from the practice of any law, especially having never practiced in Florida, and the disbarment order from New York, the referee erred in not conditioning any right to reinstatement upon passage of the complete Bar examination. The Florida Bar v. Barket, 424 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1982).

#### ISSUE II

GRANTING RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT WOULD NOT BE IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF EITHER THE MEMBERS OF THE FLORIDA BAR OR THE PEOPLE THEY SERVE.

In The Florida Bar v. Wilkes, 179 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1965), this Court was called upon to determine the effect Florida should give a judgment of disbarment entered in another state. respondent in Wilkes had been a member of The Florida Bar since He was also a member of the New York Bar until his disbarment in 1960. In 1963, the Florida Bar filed a complaint against respondent in the Supreme Court of Florida pursuant to Rule 11.02(6) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. Proceeding on the theory that the New York judgment was binding in Florida, not only as to proof of guilt, but also as to the discipline awarded, the referee recommended that respondent be either disbarred or suspended from the practice of law in Florida until the New York disbarment was vacated. The referee's wholesale adoption of the punishment imposed by the New York court was rejected by the Wilkes court because such adoption amounted to "an abdication of the responsibility imposed on this court to determine for itself, in proceedings conducted by it, or under its direction, the fitness of those permitted to practice in this state." Id at 196-97. The Court therefore remanded the cause to the referee for an independent appraisal of respondent's fitness to practice in

Florida. The Court made it clear, however, "that to hold that Florida is not obligated to recognize and enforce the New York judgment does not mean that it cannot do so if it elects." Id at 196. Thus, Wilkes stands for the proposition that the appropriate discipline to be imposed on an attorney in Florida when a discipline order has been entered against him in another jurisdiction is to determined on a case by case basis.

While in <u>Wilkes</u>, the issue of the effect of a disbarment in another jurisdiction dealt with an initial disciplinary action in Florida, the problem is the same as in the instant matter . . . "the knotty problem of allowing one who has been disbarred elsewhere to practice here (Florida)." Wilkes, p. 200.

In the instant matter, Respondent was the subject of disciplinary proceedings based upon his conviction of a federal felony. This particular conviction was also the basis for disciplinary proceedings in Respondent's resident state, New York. The disciplinary proceedings in New York subsequently resulted in disbarment of Respondent prior to his petition for reinstatement being heard.

The purpose of the disciplinary proceedings here, as in all cases involving attorney misconduct, is to protect the public from those who have failed to uphold the standards of fidelity and trust

inherent in the profession. The Florida Bar v. Hogsten, 127 So.2d 668, 670 (Fla. 1961). It therefore follows, as this Court has noted on several occasions, that determinations as to appropriate discipline must be guided primarily by the welfare of the public and of the legal community. The Florida Bar v. Beaver, 259 So.2d 143, 144 (Fla. 1972). It is clear that the interests of both would be ill-served by allowing Respondent to represent clients in Florida when he is forbidden to do so in another state.

In <u>State v. Fishkind</u>, 107 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1958), this Court discussed the great weight the general public affords disciplinary proceedings: "As members of this profession we realize that our standing is often measured in the layman's mind by the manner in which we discipline that small minority of our brethren who break the rules of fidelity and trust required by our calling." <u>Id</u> at 133. Reinstating Respondent to The Florida Bar when the Bar of a sister state has deemed him unfit to remain a member would therefore irreparably harm the reputation of the profession in this state.

Respondent has described the personal impact the criminal and disciplinary proceedings have had on not only his life but that of his family. He also has stated that he has no other plans or options to support his family in the event his readmission is denied.

This Court has held that if the concept and protection of the public, as well as the image of The Florida Bar, are to have any meaning at all, cases involving reinstatement of suspended lawyers must be viewed in the cold light of objectivity and without regard to personal sympathy. Petition of Wolf, 257 So.2d 547, 550 (Fla. 1972).

In the instant matter, Respondent's discipline was based upon certain criminal activity. Subsequent to the Florida discipline and prior to seeking reinstatement, Respondent was disbarred by his resident jurisdiction, New York. Respondent now not only seeks reinstatement with the weight of a long-term suspension from Florida but has also brought with him the stigma of having been disbarred. If the public image of the Florida Bar is a legitimate criterion for readmission, the presence of an attorney who has been disbarred in another jurisdiction cannot be justified or permitted.

This Court has often noted that "the practice of law is a privilege which places special burdens upon those choosing to pursue this honorable profession. Law, being 'a jealous mistress' makes extraordinary demands upon members of the bar." Fishkind at 132-33. While the standards are high and the responsibilities great, the vast majority of attorneys have unblemished records. The people of Florida expect and indeed deserve to be protected from those attorneys whose conduct falls below the standards

imposed by the Bar of this state or the bars of other states. In order to preserve the trust vested in this Court to perform this task, Respondent's petition for reinstatement in the instant case should therefore be denied.

#### CONCLUSION

It is apparent that the Referee erred in recommending reinstatement in light of Respondent's disbarment in New York. At the very least, reinstatement should have been contingent on Respondent's passage of the Bar examination as proof of Respondent's legal ability.

As set forth herein, Respondent's petition for reinstatement should be denied until such time as the New York disbarment has been reviewed and reversed or until such time as Respondent can demonstrate his ability by passage of the full Bar examination.