IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR  
Re: RUSSELL T. SICKMEN  
Petition for Reinstatement

---

Case No. 70,047

FILED  
NOV 5 1987

NOV 5 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss  
P.O. Box 1167  
Tallahassee, Fl 32301  
(904) 681-9010  
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

## INTRODUCTION

The appellee in these proceedings, RUSSELL T. SICKMEN, shall be referred to as the petitioner in this brief. The appellant, THE FLORIDA BAR, shall be referred to as such or as the Bar.

References to the transcript of final hearing shall be referred to by the designation TR followed by the appropriate page number. There were seven depositions entered into evidence. References to those depositions shall be designated by the use of the abbreviation Depo/ followed by the deponent's name.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner accepts the Bar's statement of the case as written.

Petitioner has no disagreement with the statement of facts in the Bar's brief. However, Petitioner believes a more thorough discussion of the record is necessary to adequately apprise this court of the circumstances surrounding this case.

Petitioner has been a member of the New York Bar since 1974. Throughout his career, he practiced law in that state. In 1975, Petitioner was admitted to The Florida Bar.

On September 15, 1983, an information was filed against Petitioner in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York charging him with conspiracy to commit mail fraud in 1978 and early 1979. In Federal Court such a crime is a felony. Under the laws of the states of Florida and New York, conspiracy to commit mail fraud is a misdemeanor. Petitioner was convicted of the crime charged on November 13, 1983.

Petitioner was sentenced to thirty days incarceration and 450 hours community service to be performed during his three years of probation. Petitioner was also required to pay restitution to an insurance company in the amount of \$14,750.00. That restitution was paid in 1984.

Petitioner was discharged from probation in May 1987.  
(TR 7).

On November 13, 1984, this court suspended Petitioner pursuant to the felony conviction suspension rule effective December 13, 1983. Subsequent to that order, the Bar brought disciplinary proceedings against Petitioner. Final hearing was held on December 12, 1985 before this court's referee. The referee recommended that Petitioner be suspended from the practice of law in Florida for a period of 3 years, effective December 1983, and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation and passes the Bar's ethics exam.

The Florida Bar did not appeal the referee's recommendation that Petitioner be suspended for three years.

This court adopted the referee's recommendations in an opinion reported at The Florida Bar v. Sickmen, 491 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1986).

On February 12, 1987, Petitioner filed his petition for reinstatement in this court. Final hearing was held in Tallahassee, Florida on June 4, 1987. On July 20, 1987, a copy of the referee's report recommending reinstatement was served on the Florida Bar. On September 17, 1987, seven months after the petition for reinstatement was filed, The Florida Bar served its petition for review.

At final hearing, Petitioner submitted in evidence the depositions of seven witnesses attesting to his good character,

professional ability and rehabilitation. Petitioner also testified in his own behalf.

The Florida Bar presented no witnesses at final hearing.

The first witnesses to testify on the Petitioner's behalf was Harry Organek, a New York lawyer practicing since 1974.

Mr. Organek has known the Petitioner for over five years and has had contact with him two to four times a month since his suspension. Mr. Organek testified that he maintained a social contact with the Petitioner but, at times, they

would discuss legal matters, but only in terms of what the recent case law was. He was interested in keeping up with the changes in the law.

When asked about the Petitioner's reputation for legal ability in the legal community prior to his suspension, Mr. Organek replied:

His reputation was of an attorney who was highly competent and who took a great personal interest in each particular case that he handled.

Mr. Organek also testified that both prior to and after his conviction, Petitioner had a good reputation for truth and veracity.

After opining that Petitioner would never repeat the conduct which lead to his conviction and suspension, Mr. Organek stated the basis for his belief as follows:

Because he is a person of good reputation for truth and veracity. I believe that he is an honest individual, and the incident involving the conviction that he had, I think was an aberration and something that occurred many, many years ago.

He has said to me, many times, that he realizes it was a very stupid thing that he did and that it was a mistake, and it was something he would absolutely never do again. He recognizes that practicing in his profession demands a high degree of ethical conduct. He plans on maintaining such a degree in the future. (Depo/Organek 11).

Mr. Organek testified that he would have no reluctance to refer clients or to entrust Petitioner with escrow funds should he be reinstated.

The second witness to testify through deposition on Petitioner's behalf was David Grey, a lawyer practicing in New York since 1964.

Mr. Grey has known petitioner for twelve years in a strictly professional capacity. He testified that Petitioner had an "excellent" reputation for legal ability prior to his conviction and that his reputation in both the legal community and the general community for truth, veracity and moral character was also "excellent". (Depo/Grey 5)

Mr. Grey further indicated that the Petitioner had never evinced any animosity towards The Florida Bar for suspending him and that he would have no reluctance to refer friends, relatives or clients to the Petitioner for the handling of their legal matters or to entrust Petitioner with escrow funds.

A third New York lawyer, Peter Kolbrener, also testified on Petitioner's behalf.



Mr. Kolbrener has been a lawyer for twenty six years. He testified that he first met Petitioner when he was a law clerk. Mr. Kolbrener became reacquainted with the Petitioner approximately six years ago when Petitioner asked Mr. Kolbrener to do some trial work for him.

Mr. Kolbrener testified that Petitioner "did very good work" in the law office. However, when asked if he knew how many trials Petitioner had handled, Mr. Kolbrener answered , "I don't know" (Depo/Kolbrener 9). Later, despite his early assertion that he did not even know if the Petitioner had done any trial work, Mr. Kolbrener opined that Petitioner should associate trial counsel with any of his cases that were to go before the jury (Depo/Kolbrener 18, 19).

Mr. Kolbrener also testified as to the manner in which Petitioner wound down his New York practice. He testified that most of the Petitioner's cases went to him and that the requirements of New York law requiring the transfer of cases was followed (Depo/Kolbrener 14).

Petitioner continued to receive fees for work done on Kolbrener's cases prior to Petitioner's suspension. However, all such fees were expressly approved by a Judge before they were paid.

Mr. Kolbrener said that he would have no reluctance to refer clients to the Petitioner and that he thought it was "positively crazy" to think that the Petitioner would ever take any funds out of trust.

The fourth witnesses to testify for the Petitioner was Rosalyn Kushner, a speech language pathologist and audiologist. Mrs. Kushner is the wife of the Rabbi of Petitioner's temple. She is also the director of management and planning for Families Organized for Community Understanding of Strokes (FOCUS).

FOCUS is a peer support group that is run by volunteers who are professionals.

When Petitioner was sentenced to 450 hours community service, he volunteered to work for FOCUS. Ms. Kushner, who had known Petitioner about three or four years at that time, recommended to the Board of Trustees of FOCUS that he be allowed to do his community service for the organization. Ms. Kushner testified that, when recommending Petitioner's employment to the Board, she had "no doubt at all" that Petitioner was a person of integrity and would fulfill his obligations in a forthright manner. (Depo/Kushner 7)

Ms. Kushner testified that Petitioner worked for FOCUS for approximately 2 1/2 years. She further testified that although Petitioner only had to put in 450 hours for FOCUS,

He put in well over 500 hours and continued to show interest in the group long after it was really necessary, as far as his hours are concerned. (Depo/Kushner 7)

Ms. Kushner characterized Petitioner's attitude towards FOCUS as "devoted" and observed that "he really threw himself into his work for FOCUS."

She further pointed out that

He was concerned about the individual people and, as I said, he followed up even after he was no longer really involved in the organization. (Depo/Kushner 9)

When asked about Petitioner's reputation in the community for truth, veracity and integrity, Ms. Kushner stated that subsequent to his conviction "he has regained the trust of the people" (Depo/Kushner 11).

Ms. Kushner's husband, Rabbi Paul Kushner, was the fifth person to testify for Petitioner. Rabbi Kushner has known Petitioner for seven or eight years and has a "congregant relationship" with him. Rabbi Kushner testified that Petitioner is a very active member of the temple's Men's Club and is moderately active in the congregation. He testified that Petitioner has a "very, very close relationship" with his family, including taking care of a brother who has serious mental problems (Depo/Kushner 4, 5).

Rabbi Kushner testified that even before Petitioner's conviction he was very contrite and absolutely acknowledged his wrong doing (Depo/Rabbi Kushner 6). Rabbi Kushner further observed that before Petitioner's conviction, he was very highly regarded by the temple's congregation. Although the conviction negatively affected his reputation, Kushner testified that Petitioner, has once again regained the trust that he lost as a result of his misconduct (Depo/Rabbi Kushner 7).

When asked if he considered the Petitioner a person of good character and good moral standing, the following dialogue took place:

A. Yes, I would say so, unhesitatingly.

Q. Notwithstanding his felony conviction?

A. Right, I think he has made a mistake. He has admitted it, he has atoned for it, and I think he may have emerged a stronger person for it.

Q. Do you think it will happen again?

A. I strongly doubt it.

Q. Why not?

A. I think he has learned what happens when one yields to negative temptation. I think that the reputation he has and his family status in the community means more to him than any possible gain from another unfortunate involvement. (Depo/Rabbi Kushner, 7 and 8)

Rabbi Kushner testified that he would have no reluctance to refer clients or to entrust Petitioner with escrow funds should he be reinstated.

Kenneth Paul Greenfield, a retailer and former client of Petitioner's also testified. Mr. Greenfield, who has known Petitioner since 1960, has been represented by him on many occasions, including closings on both houses and businesses, general real estate advice and on liability claims. Mr. Greenfield testified that Petitioner, while representing him, was "totally honest and forthright" and Mr. Greenfield was completely satisfied with Petitioner's services.

Mr. Greenfield also related that he has referred relatives and other persons to Petitioner for representation and has never heard any dissatisfaction from any of them. He further observed that Petitioner was highly regarded by the community for truth and veracity and that Mr. Greenfield "definitely" thinks the Petitioner is a man of integrity and honesty.

Mr. Greenfield related that Petitioner "totally" accepted blame for his wrongdoings and is sorry for his misconduct. (Depo/Greenfield 6). When asked if Petitioner was proud to be a lawyer, Mr. Greenfield answered:

Well, let's put it this way. Russ becoming a lawyer was probably the biggest, most important thing he has ever done in his whole life. (Depo/Greenfield 7).

When asked if he thought Petitioner would be an honest lawyer if reinstated, Mr. Greenfield said

I think you couldn't ask for a more honest, upright individual who definitely - there would be no hesitation on his honesty or ever making this type of mistake again. (Depo/Greenfield 7, 8)

Mr. Greenfield also testified that he would hire Petitioner as his lawyer, would refer others to him, and would entrust him with escrow funds. He further testified that Petitioner had never indicated to him any malice or animosity towards the Bar for his suspension.

Petitioner's final deposition witness was Dr. Andrew Schildhaus, a psychologist. Dr. Schildhaus first met Petitioner about six years ago when Dr. Schildhaus began working with some of Petitioner's clients. Dr. Schildhaus testified that Petitioner's reputation for legal ability was "excellent" and that those patients of Dr. Schildhaus who were being represented by Petitioner were pleased with his work product.

Dr. Schildhaus testified that he believes Petitioner to be an honest individual and one who is devoted to his family. He observed that Petitioner has accepted responsibility for his conviction and has never tried to equivocate about his wrongdoings. He has indicated remorse and sorrow.

Petitioner also testified in his own behalf at final hearing. He told the referee that he is 40 years old, has been married nineteen years, and that he had two children aged twelve and eight. He was admitted to the New York Bar in 1974 and to the Florida Bar in 1975.

Other than the events that led to his conviction and suspension, Petitioner has never been charged with any crime or ethical impropriety.

Petitioner did not lose his civil rights as a result of his conviction because his crime was a misdemeanor under the laws of New York. Petitioner last practiced law in New York on March 1, 1984 - the date on which his suspension in that state began.

He has not practiced law in Florida since his conviction and his Florida suspension has been effective since December 14, 1983.

Although Petitioner has been suspended pursuant to New York's interim suspension law since March 1, 1984, a formal order of discipline was not handed down until April, 1987. New York at that point in time decreed that Petitioner should be disbarred for his criminal conviction. At the time of final hearing, the order of disbarment was pending on rehearing.

The New York order of disbarment was for the same offense for which Petitioner received a three year suspension in Florida.

Petitioner testified that his offenses involved (1) his failure to advise a client that Petitioner was lending money to an individual that was purchasing the house belonging to the client; (2) his failure to disclose to an insurance company that a client of the Petitioner's falsely claimed during deposition that he lived in a house that burned down; and, (3) his submitting a proof of claim for additional living expenses to an insurance company in which it was stated that Petitioner's client lived in the house. The false claims for additional living expenses totalled \$2,000.00. (TR11-17)

In September 1982, Petitioner and his client learned that a co-owner of the house had hired somebody to burn the house down.

There was no allegation that Petitioner in any way knew about the arson of the house or that he benefited from the burning of the building.

In New York, suspended lawyers are not allowed to clerk or in any way associate themselves with the practice of law. Accordingly, Petitioner's employment since his suspension has been sparse.

Petitioner testified that when he was working as a lawyer, he spent about seventy hours a week on his practice. Petitioner testified that his devotion to his practice did not seem unusual because he had worked throughout high school, college and law school (TR 22, 23).

Petitioner confirmed Mrs. Kushner's testimony about his work for FOCUS. Petitioner was required to spend 450 hours working for FOCUS at the rate of 150 hours per year. In fact, however, Petitioner completed his requirement in approximately one year (TR24). Petitioner testified that he recorded over 500 hours working for FOCUS, and after he ceased recording his hours, he put in atleast 100 hours more. (TR24)

Petitioner has also been active in his temple's Men's Club. He has curtailed various other social work because he was constantly meeting people who knew he was a lawyer and who would seek legal advice from him, both informally and formally. He testified that each time that occurred, he had to relate that he was a suspended lawyer and it was an awkward situation (TR 25, 26).



Prior to his suspension, Respondent had incorporated and very actively worked for the Burn Alumni Supportive Association of Nassau County. This organization was a support group for the families of victims of severely burned individuals.

Petitioner was also active in two similar groups; Cancer Care and ORT. Cancer Care Volunteers assisted families of individuals suffering from cancer. ORT dealt with autistic children and those with learning disabilities.

Petitioner is not only the primary means of support for his wife and two children, but he must assist in the support of his thirty four year old brother, Robert, who is totally disabled due to psychiatric problems.

On Petitioner's petition for reinstatement, he listed substantial income for his period of suspension. Petitioner testified that those sums were all legal fees earned prior to his suspension of March 1, 1984. He testified that he transferred approximately 300 files to other attorneys on that date and that the income he received during his suspension was for work prior to the suspension. (TR31-33).

All sums that Petitioner received for legal work had to be approved by a New York Judge before they were disbursed to him (TR33).

Petitioner further testified that 90% or more of the income that he was going to receive for work done prior to his suspension had already been disbursed to him.

Petitioner candidly described to the referee while testifying his unethical conduct. He stated that:

The disciplinary proceeding is based upon two distinct periods or acts of unethical practice;

First was not disclosing to the estate and the beneficiaries that I was making a loan to the purchasers of their property; secondly some fourteen or fifteen months later or about eighteen months later, representing Mr. Cohen in a deposition where he in fact lied about occupying a house and not correcting, first of all, not directing him to testify truthfully; number two, not stopping him from testifying falsely; three, not correcting the record; four, not notifying my adversary, who was also a member of the Bar, officer of the court; and five, permitting the fraud to be perpetrated by submitting the deposition and proof of loss forms (TR 36, 37).

Petitioner testified that he allowed his client to testify falsely in 1976 because of his "very close relationship" with the client and because of "very poor judgment on my part". (TR37)

The disciplinary penalties levied upon Petitioner have been "tremendously embarrassing" and will soon cause great financial difficulty. They also have been very emotionally draining on everyone involved, including his immediate family, his parents and his in-laws (TR37,38).

When asked whose fault the situation in which he finds himself, Petitioner replied "It's my fault. It is no one else's fault." (TR38)

Petitioner acknowledged the propriety of his being disciplined and feels that The Florida Bar treated him fairly in his disciplinary proceedings (TR39).

Petitioner was never charged with the arson of the building which was involved in the false insurance claim (TR40).

Petitioner testified that during the three to four years prior to his suspension, he always had approximately two to three hundred open cases, the majority of which were personal injury matters (TR40). He also handled real estate transactions, commercial litigation and commercial transactions not in litigation (TR40).

Petitioner testified that he has taken nearly one hundred cases to the point where a jury was picked, and about twenty to twenty five of those cases went to a verdict (TR 41).

During his suspension, Petitioner has maintained his membership in all professional associations, with the obvious exceptions of the New York Bar and The Florida Bar, so that he could continue receiving educational periodicals from all of the organizations (TR42).

During his suspension, Petitioner has continued to subscribe to The Florida Bar Journal and the Bar News (TR42).

Petitioner took and passed the multi state ethics examination (TR43).

During his suspension, Petitioner took a four day trial practice seminar in 1985 (TR44).

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